IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00639

	N	ИL	${ m L}$	IΑ	M	S.	HA	R	RIS	5
--	---	----	----------	----	---	----	----	---	-----	---

APPELLANT

VERSUS

APPELLEES

TOM GRIFFITH WATER WELL & CONDUCTOR SERVICE, INC.

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

L. Clark Hicks, Jr., MS Bar GUNN & HICKS PLLC
Post Office Box 1588
Hattiesburg, MS 39403-1588
Telephone (601) 544-6770
Facsimile (601) 544-6775

E-mail:

grant@gunnandhicks.com

clark@gunnandhicks.com

Attorneys for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDINGS ARE MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?
 - A. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF WAS AN EMPLOYEE WITH AN EMPLOYMENT AT WILL CONTRACT, AND NOT AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR UNDER THE 10% GROSS SALES AGREEMENT, IS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL RECORD EVIDENCE AND AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?
 - B. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDING THAT DEFENDANT CHANGED THE BASIS OF PAYMENT TO PLAINTIFF IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, MANIFESTLY WRONG, NOT SUPPORTED BY THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?
- II. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDINGS ARE MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS WHEN HE APPLIED STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND LACHES AS A BASIS OF THE JUDGMENT?
 - A. WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAIVED THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND LACHES WHEN THEY WERE NOT ASSERTED IN THE DEFENDANT'S ANSWER, OR ANY AMENDED ANSWER?
 - B. WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAIVED PREVIOUSLY NON-PLED AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND LACHES WHEN THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO TIMELY ASSERT THEM?
 - 1. DOES EXCESSIVE DELAY IN ASSERTING AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND LACHES CONSTITUTE A WAIVER BY THE DEFENDANT TO ASSERT THEM?
 - 2. WHETHER THE DEFENDANT WAIVED AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND LACHES RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN A SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION WHEN, THE MOTION WAS FILED OVER FOUR AND ONE-HALF YEARS AFTER LITIGATION HAD COMMENCED AND LESS THAN TEN (10) DAYS PRIOR TO HEARING AND THE TRIAL?
 - C. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S FORMER ADJUDICATION OVERRULING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ESTABLISHED

THE LAW OF THE CASE THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND LACHES DEFENSES DID NOT APPLY TO BAR PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM?

III. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDING IN THE JUDGMENT THAT THERE WAS NOT AN ENFORCEABLE CONTRACT BETWEEN PLAINTIFF AND DEENDANT IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, MANIFESTLY WRONG, NOT SUPPORTED BY THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case.

William S. Harris sold water well jobs as an independent contractor for Tom Griffith Water Well and Conductor Service, Inc.¹ Harris and Griffith's President, Tom Griffith, had a verbal agreement that Harris would get paid ten percent (10%) of all gross sales. This arrangement lasted for several years until May 2002 when Griffith suddenly announced that he was terminating Harris' services. Shockingly, Griffith said he would not pay Harris for past sales even though those obligations were due and owing.

With no other choice to enforce the contractual agreement, Harris filed suit two months later on July 11, 2002. *T.*, pp. 29-31; R. Vol. I., pp. 6-7; pp. 21-23. As part of the relief requested, the Complaint requested payment in an amount sufficient to satisfy the amount owed under the terms of the verbal contractual agreement Griffith breached. R. Vol. I., p. 7.

2. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below.

After filing suit on July 11, 2002, Griffith filed a Motion on September 4, 2002 objecting to jurisdiction and requesting transfer of the suit to Circuit Court. R. Vol. I., p. 8. Harris filed an Answer to Griffith's Motion and on September 12, 2003, an Agreed Order was entered whereby

¹Tom Griffith Water Well and Conductor Service, Inc.'s President is Tom Griffith. As President for Tom Griffith Water Well and Conductor Service, Inc., Tom Griffith was the one who communicated with Harris for purposes of this litigation. Therefore, throughout this brief and for ease of understanding and reference, "Griffith" is used to refer to the company and Tom Griffith, its President, collectively.

counsel for Harris and Griffith agreed to the jurisdiction of the Chancery Court to hear the case, rendering the prior objection to jurisdiction by Griffith a moot issue. R. Vol. I., pp. 18-19. Prior representing counsel for Harris propounded discovery and had to file two Motions to Compel against Griffith. R. Vol. I., p. 2. In early 2005, the prior attorney representing Harris, W.J. "Pete" Gamble, III, died unexpectedly. Harris timely obtained new counsel after having to wait some time before his litigation file was returned to him from Mr. Gamble's office, and an entry of appearance was made by Harris' new representing counsel on August 18, 2005. Id. Harris filed an Amended Complaint and after moving for default judgment, Griffith eventually filed an Answer. Id. After additional Motions to Compel by Harris were filed as made necessary by Griffith's failure to respond to outstanding discovery and the Court ordering responses be made to same, as well as depositions being taken in the matter, trial was scheduled for February 15, 2007. R. Vol. I., pp. 2-4. Less than ten (10) days prior to trial, Griffith filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and related pleadings to which Harris filed Motions to Strike, a Response and other responsive pleadings. Id. The Court overruled Griffith's Motion for Summary Judgment on the day of trial, February 15, 2007. T., p. 9, lines 2-10. Trial occurred on February 15, 2007. T. pp. 1-172 and Trial Exhibits. The Chancellor issued a written Judgment that included findings of fact and conclusions of law on April 11, 2007. R. Vol. IV., and/or Brief Exhibit "1," pp. 459-462. Harris timely filed his Notice of Appeal, Designation of the Record and Certificate of Compliance with Rule 11(B)(1) on April 13, 2007. R. Vol. IV., pp. 463-468.

3. Statement of the Facts

Harris began working at Griffith in December of 1992 on a part-time basis originally performing administrative office work. T., p. 11, lines 14-24. Except for his time in the military, Harris' work history had been in sales. T., p. 10, lines 24-29; p. 11, lines 1-13. In either December of 1993 or January of 1994, Harris approached Griffith via its President, Tom Griffith, and met with

him on a Sunday afternoon. Griffith and Harris entered into a verbal contractual agreement whereby Griffith would pay Harris commissions of ten (10%) percent of gross sales made for Griffith. *T., p.* 5, lines 16-20; *T., p.* 13, lines 5-29; *p.* 99, lines 21-26; *p.* 117. The reason for this meeting was that Harris had another job opportunity, but he was willing to work under the agreement if he knew Griffith was willing to pay Harris \$100,000 a year if he performed the sales, to which Griffith agreed. *T., p.* 14, lines 1-17; *p.* 117. Harris and Griffith's President shook hands on the verbal contractual agreement. *T., p.* 14 lines 1-17. It was Griffith's desire that Harris be an independent contractor under the ten (10%) gross sales agreement and he was treated accordingly. *T., p.* 14, lines 18-24; *pp.* 57-58; *p.* 86, lines 12-28; *p.* 163, lines 1-8; Trial Exhibits "1" and "2." The agreement was never reduced to writing or signed by either party due to the fact that Harris felt he knew Griffith's President and thought he could trust him. *T., p.* 14, lines 27-29; *p.* 15, lines 1-3.

Harris began submitting invoices to Griffith for the commissions due for sales he made under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement. T., p. 15, lines 4-29; p. 16, lines 1-16; p. 51, lines 22-29; p. 52, lines 14-23; p. 56, lines 1-5; p. 138, lines 23-29; p. 141, lines 1-6; p. 146, lines 21-25; R. Vol. II; p. 157, lines 1-11; Trial Exhibit "5." Harris testified at no time was he ever told to quit submitting invoices to Griffith for the commissions he was due. T., p. 15, lines 17-22. In all, Harris submitted sixty-nine (69) invoices to Griffith for commissions due Harris on sales he made for Griffith from 1994 until shortly before Griffith notified it was breaching the agreement in 2002. T., pp. 16-19; Trial Exhibit "5." Harris invoiced Griffith for ten (10%) percent of gross sales, excluding tax, and only for customers where Harris had generated the sale. T., pp. 19-21. Harris maintained an accounts receivable ledger that kept up with the amount Griffith owed him for commissionable sales. T., pp. 21-24 and Trial Exhibit "6." Harris' submitted invoices and the accounts receivable ledger were compared at trial and demonstrated that each were consistent with the other since the accounts receivable entries were being pulled from actual Griffith customer

invoices, and the invoices as submitted by Harris to Griffith were generated from Harris'accounts receivable ledger. T., pp.24-26. Harris initially also maintained a payments received ledger that Harris would enter payments made to him by Griffith under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement so that he could maintain a balance owed from Griffith when compared to Harris' accounts receivable ledger. T., pp. 32-34 and Trial Exhibit "7." Eventually, Harris realized he could use computer printouts from Griffith's own financial records reflecting sales expenses that would show payments made to Harris for commissionable sales and compare these printouts to his personally maintained accounts receivable ledger. T., p. 32.

Harris testified at trial that he was paid in two separate checks on a weekly basis - one for office work that he still performed as an employee of Griffith just like he had been receiving when he first began working with Griffith in 1992, and the other was a check that began to be paid under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement with Harris working as an independent contractor. T. pp. 26-27; pp. 43-44; pp. 57-58; pp. 66-67; Trial Exhibits "1" and "2" [i.e., sales expense checks under 10% gross sales agreement] and "3." [i.e., payroll checks]. Testimony of the bookkeeper for Griffith, Bethany Lee, at trial also reflected payment of two separate checks to Harris - one for payroll and one coded to sales expense that was for the commissions owed on gross sales Harris made. T., pp. 168-169. Taxes, FICA, etc... were withheld from the employment check Harris received from Griffith, but the check he received as an independent contractor under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement had no taxes or social security withheld. Id. and T., pp. 63-65; pp. 86-88; Trial Exhibits "1," "2," and "3." Harris also never received any W-2s from Griffith on the payments Griffith made to Harris for commissionable sales under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement for which Harris was working as an independent contractor, rather, he only received W-2s for the payroll checks he received for doing office work as an employee. T., p. 34. Harris and Griffith never had an agreement to be paid a specific monetary amount each week, but Griffith paid

toward the account of accumulated commissionable sales weekly what cash flow for the company would allow at the time. *T., pp.34-35 and Trial Exhibits "1" and "2."* Payments from Griffith to Harris under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement were coded by Griffith to sales expense and fluctuated over time. *T., pp. 34-36; pp. 44-47; pp. 94-95; pp. 98-99; pp. 156-157; p. 160, lines 23-29; p. 161, lines 3-6 and Trial Exhibits "1," "2," and "7." Griffith was always behind from the beginning under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement, but Griffith paid Harris toward the account of accumulating commissions. <i>T., p. 27.* Harris testified to the "feast or famine" nature of the water well business and that cash flow for Griffith was erratic which helped explain why payment was being made by Griffith on account toward Harris' earned commissions. *T., pp. 27-28.* While Harris was selling for Griffith as an independent contractor, he helped better Griffith's water well business by selling fewer private jobs, and selling more industrial/commercial type jobs because the jobs were more profitable, and payment was often tendered quicker by the commercial client after being invoiced. *T., pp. 28-29.*

Griffith's President informed Harris in May 2002, that the verbal contract was terminated and that Griffith would not pay him because business was slow. *T., pp. 29-30*. Griffith's President also told Harris during this same time in 2002 that Griffith did not have the money to pay him. *T., p. 128, lines5-16*. Griffith's President testified that Harris "may" have told him that Griffith owed him money after Harris was informed Griffith was not going to pay Harris. *T., p. 129, lines 3-12*. Griffith's President admitted Griffith was behind on paying commissions to Harris and owed thousands of dollars. *T., pp. 129-130, p. 136, lines 22-27*. When Harris inquired about the money that Griffith still owed Harris under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement, Griffith's President informed Harris that "I'm not gonna pay you." *T., p. 30*. Before May of 2002, Harris testified he had never been informed by Griffith that it wanted the ten (10%) percent gross sales contract terminated. *T., p. 42, lines 19-26*. However, Griffith testified at trial that unlike Griffith's

recollection of the time period of making the ten percent (10%) gross sales agreement with Harris, that Griffith in some unknown year told Harris that the ten percent (10%) gross sales agreement was getting out of whack. *T.*, *p.* 117; *p.* 122. Yet, Griffith's President also testified that he may not have communicated to Harris "good enough" Griffith's belief of changing to a flat fee arrangement between Griffith and Harris and could not remember "hardly anything about" conversations where the flat fee issue was allegedly discussed. *T.*, *p.* 131, lines 16-26; *p.* 137, lines 4-9. Griffith's President testified the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement was an agreement that continued to be an oral agreement and that Griffith never sent any type of writing or memorandum to Harris indicating the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement was no longer in place. *T.*, *p.* 158, lines 8-13. After Griffith breached the ten (10%) gross sales agreement in May 2002, Harris filed suit within two (2) months to recover sums due under the verbal contractual agreement; those sums due as calculated and verified by certified public accountant, Kenneth Lefoldt, Jr. using records maintained by Harris and Griffith. *Id. and T., pp.* 36-37.

Kenneth Lefoldt, Jr., (hereinafter, "Lefoldt"), a certified public accountant was called by Harris at trial, was tendered and accepted as an expert in the area of finance and accounting. *T., pp. 69-72 and Trial Exhibit "8."* Lefoldt testified that after making calculations using a "first in/first out methodology," that he was able to determine the amount owed under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement between Harris and Griffith. *T., pp. 80-83; pp.104-105 and Exhibit "9."* Lefoldt's expert opinion, was that Griffith owed Harris \$144,638.07 inclusive of a few invoices not submitted to Griffith by Harris, and an adjusted balance due after deducting unsubmitted invoices, of \$133,496 - all of which represented billings by Harris to Griffith for only the years 2000 and 2001 when deducting Griffith's prior payments on account for the preceding years. *T., pp. 73-83; p. 105, lines 6-26 and Trial Exhibit "9."* Lefoldt testified his opinion was based not only on the ledgers and interviews of Harris and depositions of the parties, but also available records from Griffith were

reviewed as well so that an unbiased opinion of the outstanding balance could be determined. *T.*, *p. 72, lines 10-29; p. 73, lines 1-8; pp. 77-78.* Lefoldt also testified that Griffith's QuickBooks records were consistent with Harris' testimony that he was paid as an employee for administrative office work for which Harris received W-2s that Lefoldt had also reviewed, and that Harris was also being paid as an independent contractor under the ten (10%) percent gross sales agreement. *T., pp. 85-88 and Trial Exhibits "1" and "3."* Lefoldt's testimony reflected that the variance between payments Griffith made to Harris for sales expense as reflected on Trial Exhibit "2," Griffith's own financial records, was indicative of payment on account, rather than any type of fixed compensation. *T., p. 108; Exhibit "2," and "7."*

Lefoldt also rendered an opinion as to the value of prejudgment interest using the allowable statutory eight (8%) interest rate. *T., pp. 89-92*. He testified that prejudgment interest on the \$144,638.07 amount that included unsubmitted invoices by Harris amounted to \$61,318 and that prejudgment interest on the \$133,496 amount that gave a credit to Griffith for Harris' unsubmitted invoices totaled \$56,597. *T., pp. 90-92 and Trial Exhibit "10."* Lefoldt's opinion was that the total amount Harris is due from Griffith allowing for unsubmitted invoices from Harris when adding prejudgment interest totaled \$205,956 or, alternatively, \$190,093 when giving credit to Griffith for Harris' latest unsubmitted invoices before Griffith's breach. *T., pp.91-92 and Trial Exhibit "10."*

All of Lefoldt's calculations and opinion as to amount owed Harris from Griffith, were based upon Harris' and Griffiths' records and prior testimony. *T.*, *p.* 72, lines 10-29; *p.* 73, lines 1-8; *pp.* 77-78. Lefoldt's calculations and opinions were left unrebutted by Griffith, except to the extent that Griffith broadly testified without any supporting record evidence, that he had paid Harris what was owed. Interestingly enough, Griffith provided this testimony even when Griffith indicated he did not keep up with what he owed Harris, but relied upon Harris to do that. *T.*, *pp.148-150*; *p.* 76, lines 19-29; *p.* 100, lines 5-11.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. FINDINGS IN THE JUDGMENT ENTERED BY THE CHANCELLOR ARE MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND ARE AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

It has been undisputed throughout the course of this litigation as well as at trial that Harris was not an employee or operating under an employment at will contract, but instead was working as an independent contractor under an agreement with Griffith whereby Griffith was to pay Harris commissions on ten percent (10%) of gross sales Harris made for the water well company. At trial, Griffith admitted Harris was an independent contractor under this agreement. *T., p. 163, lines 1-8*. Testimony of Harris and Lefoldt confirmed the fact that Harris worked as an independent contractor under the agreement as well as Trial Exhibits "1" and "2" clearly demonstrated that no taxes or other type of withholdings were withheld from the sales expense checks Griffith paid to Harris under this agreement. *T., p. 14, lines 18-24, pp. 57-58; p. 86, lines 12-28; Trial Exhibits "1" and "2."* Griffith also had provided sworn testimony by way of deposition and interrogatory responses that Harris was working as an independent contractor under the agreement. *R. Vol. I., pp. 141-142; p. 146; Vol. II., p. 152.* The Chancellor finding that Harris was a salaried employee and not an independent contractor under the ten percent (10%) gross sales agreement, is manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous. *See* Brief Exhibit "1"; *R. Vol. IV., pp. 459-462*

The Chancellor erred again by finding in the Judgment that Griffith changed the basis of payment to Harris. First the findings in the Judgment are inconsistent. The Chancellor found in one paragraph of the Judgment that Griffith changed the arrangement and basis of payment for plaintiff's services before the period of 1999 to 2001. <u>Id</u>. Later in the Judgment, he found that the commission arrangement under the agreement changed to a weekly salary between the years 1999 and 2002. <u>Id</u>. Trial Exhibits "5" and "6" are Harris' invoices submitted to Griffith under the agreement and Harris'

regularly maintained accounts receivable ledger which do not support the inconsistent findings of the Chancellor. Trial Exhibit "7" demonstrates that fluctuating payments were made by Griffith from the time the agreement was entered in 1994 until breach of the agreement by Griffith in May 2002, while also not supporting any change in basis of payment to a set salary of \$1,000.00 each week as erroneously found by the Chancellor.

II. THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDINGS ARE MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS WHEN HE WRONGLY APPLIED STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND LACHES AS A BASIS OF JUDGMENT.

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