WILLIAM S. HARRIS	

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

CASE NO. 2007-CA-000639

TOM GRIFFITH WATER WELL & CONDUCTOR SERVICE, INC

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FORM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE RENEE McBRIDE PORTER PORTER LAW FIRM 915 Main Street Post Office Box 982 Columbia, Mississippi 39429 601-731-1886/1887 Ms. Bar No

WILLIAM S. HARRIS

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

CASE NO. 2007-CA-000639

TOM GRIFFITH WATER WELL & CONDUCTOR SERVICE, INC

APPELLEE

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

### ARGUMENT

I. The Chancellor was correct in dismissing the Complaint and the Court's decision is supported by the evidence and should be upheld.

In reviewing the decisions of a Chancellor, this court has taken a limited standard of review. See Reddell v. Reddell, 696 So.2d 287 (Miss. 1997). In order to disturb the findings of a chancellor this court must find that the chancellor has abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong or has made a finding which was clearly erroneous. See Bank of Miss. V. Hollingsworth.

609 So.2d 422 (Miss. 1992).

The Chancellor heard the testimony and examined the evidence and his decision should not be overturned unless he abused his discretion.

Furthermore, the chancellor's determination regarding the weight and credibility of witnesses are given deference when there is conflicting testimony. See. Scott Addison Constr.,

Inc. v. Lauderdale County Sch. Sys., 789 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2001); Murphy v. Murphy, 631 So.2d 812 (Miss. 1994); Culbreath v. Johnson, 427 So.2d. 705 (Miss. 1983).

In the case at bar, there is no evidence that the Chancellor erred in making his decision. The case involved a suit on an oral contract. The party with the burden of proving the existence of a contract testified that there was a contact. However, this testimony was not corroborated in any way or manner. In fact the other testimony of witnesses called by the Defendant corroborates the fact that a contract did not exist as it shows the Plaintiff being paid in installments a certain sum of money each week.

"This Court will not disturb a chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard" See Johnson v. Johnson, 650

So. 2d 357 (Miss. 1994). See also McEwen v. McEwem, 631 So. 2d 821, 823 (Miss. 1994). The only way an appellate court can reverse a chancellor's ruling of fact is when there is not "substantial, credible evidence" to justify his findings. The Court referenced Parsons v. Parsons, 678 So. 2d 701,703 (Miss. 1996), saying the award on appeal will not be disturbed unless it is found to be against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or manifestly in error.

The court in <u>Carr v. Carr</u>, 480 So. 2d 1120 (Miss. 1985) stated that "Findings of fact made by a chancellor may not be set aside or disturbed on appeal unless manifestly wrong; this is not whether the finding relates to evidentiary fact questions, or to ultimate fact questions" <u>Tucker v. Tucker</u>, 453 So. 2d 1294 (Miss. 1984). The Court went on to conclude that if there is evidence in the record that support the chancellor's finding of fact, then the finding should not be disturbed. "The Court is bound by the findings unless it can be said with a reasonable certainty that those findings were manifestly wrong and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Torrence v. Moore, 455 So. 2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

In <u>Devereaux v. Devereaux</u>, 493 So. 2d. 1310 (Miss. 1986), the Court stated again that they would not reverse the chancellor's finding of facts on contradictory testimony unless it is manifestly wrong <u>Voss v. Stewart</u>, 420 So. 2d 761, 765 (Miss. 1982). The Court *will* reverse a chancellor's findings when, on the record, it is manifestly wrong. If there is nothing on the record to justify the findings of the chancellor, then the Court will reverse.

This court has held that "[w]here the factual findings of the chancellor are supported by substantial credible evidence, they are insulated from disturbance on appellate review." Norton v. Norton, 742 So.2d 126 (Miss. 1997) citing Jones v. Jones, 532 So.2d 574, 581 (Miss. 1988).

In the case at bar there is evidence to support the Chancellor's findings and the Judgement should be upheld.

The Court found as follows, to wit: "The Court finds there was essentially a contract of employment at will between the parties, initially based on Harris receiving a commission as reflected by Griffith's payment method, (Trial Exhibit 6) and then changed to a weekly salary, as based on Griffith's payment method between 1999 and 2002. While Harris continued to submit invoices, the Court finds the intent of the parties, at least as to the mutuality of the arrangement, changed with the monthly changed to a set salary." (See Judgement, page 3.)

There was evidence in the record to support this claim when you view exhibits and testimony which both support the fact that Tom paid Harris a set amount each week. This was supported by Beth Lee, Tom Griffith and by Trial Exhibit 2. Therefore the findings of the Court were supported by evidence and must be upheld.

П.

Appellee's reply to the issues raised by Appellant.

I. Whether the Chancellor's findings are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, not supported by substantial evidence and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence?

As aforesaid the Chancellor's findings are clearly correct and supported by the evidence and should be affirmed and upheld.

A. Whether the Chancellor's findings that Plaintiff was an employee with an employment at will contract, and not an independent contractor under the 10% gross sales agreement is manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous, not supported by substantial record evidence and against the weight of the evidence?

The finding that Harris was an employee at will and not an independent contractor, as he had been referred to by Tom and himself, is not significant as to the ultimate finding of this Court. The Court dismissed Harris' complaint finding first of all that there was not a contract. The Court found "A binding contract must consist of parties with a valid or legal object entering into a mutually agreeable understanding with each party receiving something of value." (See Judgement, page 3). The Court dismissed the Complaint after looking at the intent of the parties finding that there was no enforceable contact. Whether or not Harris was classified as an independent contractor or employee did not effect the fact that there was no written agreement. The case of Owens v. Thomae, 759 So.2d 1117 (Miss. 1999) provides "In determining whether a employer-employee or independent contractor relationship existed, especially where third parties are affected, courts are not confined to the terms of the contract, but may look as well to the conduct of the parties. Richardson v. APAC-Mississippi, Inc., 631 So.2d 143, 151 (Miss. 1994); Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n v. Logan, 248 Miss. 595, 600, 159 So.2d 802, 804 (1964). . . . . Branning, 1999 WL 444606 at \* 7-8.

The Court looked to the conduct of the parties and found that an employment at will contract existed and this finding should be affirmed.

B. Whether the Chancellor's findings that Defendant changed the basis of payment is clearly erroneous, manifestly wrong, not supported by the substantial evidence and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence?

The Chancellor's findings are supported by the Record and by other evidence. Harris argues that payments to him fluctuated. However, when you review Trial Exhibit 2., you find the following:

June 19, 1998 to April 12, 1999: each week Harris was paid: \$750.00

April 16, 1999 to November 29, 1999: each week Harris was paid \$500.00.

March 10, 2000, to January 24,2001 each week Harris was paid \$850.00.

January 29, 2001 to October 10, 2001 each week Harris was paid \$875.00

(Please note on the January 29, 2001, check was made payable for \$850.00., and then an additional check for \$25.00., was written on February 9, 2001., indicating a desire to increase the pay to \$875.00).

The only time periods not covered above are the time period from December 3, 1999, to February 25, 2000, at which time Harris was paid \$800.00., for nine of those weeks and then two weeks for \$700.00 and an additional \$400.00., showing an intent to pay \$800.00 per week.

After October 10, 2001, which is almost a month after September 11, 2001, the payments dropped to \$200.00., a week.

See Trial Exhibit 2.

This analysis supports the finding that Harris was an employee at will and drawing a salary.

The record testimony of Beth Lee supports the finding of the Court. Beth was asked if when she first began work Harris's checks would differ each week and she replied "Yes." (See Record, page 170, line 13). She was then asked if she recalled a time period when their payments became to be a certain amount. Her reply was again "Yes." (See Record, page 170, line 20.).

Harris admitted that at one time he was paid \$750.00., per week for weeks. (See Record, page 45). Harris was questioned: "But you agree with me that starting June of 1998

and going through 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, and up to 2002, every week you got a certain amount, and there were no payments—there were no big payments made? His answer was "There were no big payments." He admitted "Well it was fairly level" He further admitted that the only thing we had since, we had no verbal contract between he and Tom, was their course of dealing. (Record, page 50, line 16) When asked "And it would seem that the way you dealt each other is that every week you would get paid a check." His reply" "Actually, I got two checks, yes." (Record, page 50, lines 17-20.)

Further, the testimony by Harris that he never sent a statement or letter requesting any type of payment from Griffith. (Record, page 52). When asked "Do you have anything, any memorandum or note, anything signed by Mr. Griffith saying that he owed you this 10 percent." His reply was "No, I do not." (Record, page 53, line 14.)

Therefore, the findings by the Court were supported by the evidence both testimony and exhibits.

II. Whether the Chancellor's Findings are manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous when he applied the statue of limitations and laches as a basis of the Judgement?

A. Whether the Defendant waived the Affirmative Defenses of Statute of Limitations and Laches when they were not asserted in the Defendant's answer or any amended answer?

The Defendant did not waive the Affirmative Defenses of Statute of Limitations and Laches as they were asserted in his Motion for Summary Judgement and his motion to amend his answer.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure No. 12 provides that "leave to amend shall be granted when justice so requires" In this case the Defendant (Tom) moved to amend his pleadings days after the

depositions and justice would require that he be allowed to so amend his pleadings. Further these issues were tried by the Court after an examination of the record. Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure No. 15, provides also "When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by expressed or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings... the court may allow the pleadings to be amended and shall do so freely when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice the maintaining of the action or defense upon the merits." In this case the issues of statute of limitations and laches were tried by this Court with no objection made by Harris.

The Court is justified in it's ruling on the statute of limitations and laches.

- B. Whether the Defendant waived previously non-pled affirmative defenses of statute of limitations and laches when the Defendant failed to timely assert them?
- 1. Does excessive delay in asserting affirmative defenses or statute of limitations and lances constitute a waiver by the Defendant to assert them?

This lawsuit was filed on July 11, 2002, by Harris and summons was issued and served in this cause. On September 4, 2002, Tom filed a motion to dismiss. That no answer or responsive pleading was had on said motion until June 23, 2003. That as per Uniform Chancery Court Rules 1.10 discovery was to be completed within ninety days of service of an Answer. That an Answer/ Response was served on September 4, 2002. That no action was had for nine months. That discovery was not propounded until January 9, 2004. That the discovery was not timely filed as per Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure No. 1.10. That this action could have been dismissed as per Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure No. 41, by this Court. That depositions were completed in

this matter on January 22, 2007. That at that time Tom became aware of certain defenses and filed the appropriate pleadings. That Tom did not have the transcripts of the depositions in hand until February 12, 2007. That prior to receiving the transcripts and based upon written notes and memory from the depositions Tom filed his motions herein. That Tom filed these motions after discovery was completed. That discovery was not timely followed by either party. That Harris filed for additional discovery after the time deadlines and schedules. Tom did request to amend his pleadings. For Harris to now argue this request is not timely when he let nine months go by after the filing of the suit without taking any action should not be well taken.

2. Whether the Defendant waived affirmative defenses of statute of limitations and laches raised for the first time in a summary judgement motion when, the motion was filed over four and one-half years after litigation had commenced and less than ten (10) days prior to hearing and the trial?

The Court's Judgement does not find that a contract existed. The fact that the case was not timely filed by Harris and that laches had attached is only surplus argument for the dismissal. However, Tom filed his motions and amended answer with days of the deposition so that he acted timely and properly.

The case of Rankin v. Clements Cadillac, Inc., 905 So.2d 710 (Miss.App. 2004) is on point in that in that case Clements Cadillac, Inc., filed an Answer but did not set forth a Release in the Answer. Mr. Rankin tried to bar consideration of an affirmative defense that was not pled but which was injected into the case before trial. The Court quoted Rule 15 B "issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings." M.R.C.P. 15(b). There is no prohibition in

Rule 15(b) of applying the trial-by-consent principle to affirmative defenses. In the case at hand the issues were tried by the Court with the issues involving the extensive questioning of Harris as to how he got a check each week and took no action even though Tom supposedly owed him money. So this issue was tried by the Court.

The <u>Rankin</u> case also allowed the trial of the affirmative defenses even though they were raised orally just prior to trial. The <u>Rankin</u> case found that a "defendant's pretrial motion that seeks a ruling on an affirmative defense which has not been included in the pleadings, should be evaluated under the same rule as would apply if that defense was raised at trial. Under Rule 15(b), the evidence and the defense should be accepted unless the objecting party can "satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence [in support of the affirmative defense] would prejudice the maintaining of the action or defense."

There was no argument here that the affirmative defenses would prejudice Harris and thus they should be accepted as a bar to this suit.

C. Whether the Chancellor's former adjudication overruling the Defendant's motion for summary judgement established the law of the case that the statute of limitations and laches defense did not apply to bar Plaintiff's claim?

The Court simply found that summary judgement was not proper in that a material and genuine issue of fact did exist. The court made no ruling on any other law or the facts.

Simpson v State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. 564 So. 2d., 1374, 1376 (Miss., 1990), is not on point herein as the Court ruled ("It's my finding now to overrule the summary judgement based on the fact I think there is a genuine issue of fact that we need to hear in the case today." (See Record, page 9, lines 5-9). The Simpson case discussed the doctrine of law in a case, but the Simpson case

is a case that was tried and appealed and then retried. The case at hand had not been tried when the Chancellor found that there was a genuine issue of fact. There were no findings on the law made by the Court. Therefore this issue is without merit.

III. Whether the Chancellor's Finding in the Judgement that there was not an enforceable contract between Plaintiff and Defendant is clearly erroneous, manifestly wrong, not supported by the substantial evidence and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

As afore said the Chancellor's findings are not clearly erroneous and are supported by the evidence. In reply to the arguments made by Harris:

Harris argues: Harris testimony the contract existed and continued to exist until May 2002 when Griffith breached the contract and first told Harris payment would not be made

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